No. 24-105

SCA EFiled: Apr 29 2024 06:01PM EDT ----- Transaction ID 72856724

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINA

Stafford Glenn Poff, Sheria Maynard, Travis Williamson, Chris Booton, Sean Johnson, Chester Maynard, James Ward, Paul Baker, Aaron Farley, Wade R. Wellman, and Nathan Triplett, Plaintiffs Below, Petitioners,

vs.

Wayne County Commission, Defendant Below, Respondent.

BRIEF OF THE PETITIONERS SHERIA MAYNARD, STAFFORD GLEN POFF AND CHESTER MAYNARD

Dwight J. Staples, Esq. (# 3566) Gail Henderson-Staples, Esq. (#1676) 711 Fifth Avenue Huntington, WV 25701 Telephone: (304) 523-5732 Facsimile: (304) 523-5169 Email: hhstaples@aol.com

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

a. Procedural History

On March 12, 2019, Stafford Glen Poff filed a complaint (C.A. No. 19-C-31) against the Wayne County Commission alleging claims of Unjust Enrichment, Quantum Meruit, Violation of Statute, Wage Payment and Collection Act, Declaratory Judgment and Breach of Contract. (JA-Vol. 1, p. 7). On April 9, 2019 Sheria Maynard filed her complaint (C.A. No. 19-C-56) against the Wayne County Commission and alleged, in addition to the aforementioned Poff claims, the claims of Negligence, Detrimental Reliance, Outrageous and Intentional Conduct, False and Misleading Statements and Breach of Good Faith and Fair Dealing. (JA-Vol.3, p.204). Also, on April 9, 2019 the Plaintiff Chester Maynard filed a complaint (C.A. No. 19-C-57) along with six (6) other Deputy Sheriffs alleging the same claims of Complainant Poff. (JA-Vol.7, p.1029). There were two (2) other complaints (C.A. No. 19-C-60 and 19-C-61) filed against the Wayne County Commission alleging the same or similar claims. (JA-Vol.9, p.1104) and (JA-Vol.10, p. 1255).

In the action below, the Plaintiff Sheria Maynard was represented by the undersigned. Initially, the remaining Plaintiffs were represented by Attorney Richard Weston, then Attorney Sara Chapman became counsel for all of the Plaintiffs except Sheria Maynard. On March 1, 2024, the Circuit Court entered an Order granting Sara Chapman's Motion to Withdraw as Counsel. After Attorney Chapman's withdrawal as counsel, the undersigned also became counsel for Plaintiffs Stafford Glen Poff and Chester Maynard on March 28, 2024. In the action below, the Defendant Commission sought to dismiss the Plaintiffs (Maynard, Wellman and Triplett) claims pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6) of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure. After brief submissions and oral argument, the Court denied the Defendant's Motion to Dismiss. (JA-Vol. 4, p.325). The parties resolved the Plaintiffs' claim of Violation of Statute and the Wage and Payment Claim; therefore, an Agreed Order of Voluntary Partial Dismissal was entered. (JA-Vol. 7, p.1020).

The issues now before this Honorable Court and presented for certification are as

follows:

Certified Questions

1. Whether Defendant's former written policy and practice of paying ninety percent (90%) of healthcare insurance premiums for deputy sheriffs who work 20-24 year and retire at the age of 50 created a vested right to retiree health insurance benefits for Plaintiffs.

____ Yes X No

2. Whether Plaintiffs may proceed with claims sounding in detrimental reliance, false and misleading statements, unjust enrichment, quantum meruit and breach of contract to enforce Defendant's former written policy and practice of paying a percentage of healthcare insurance premiums for deputy sheriffs who work 20-24 years and retire at the age of 50.

X Yes

____ No

The appellate standard of review of questions of law answered and certified by a circuit court is *de novo*. Syl. Pt. 1, *Martino v. Barrett*, 215 W.Va. 123, 595 S.E.2d 65 (2004)

b. Statement of Facts By The Circuit Court

Defendant Wayne County Commission had created a written policy and practice providing that Wayne County deputy sheriffs could retire at age 50 and receive health care coverage, with ninety percent (90%) of the premium costs paid by Defendant after they worked for Defendant for 20 to 24 years. Defendant paid one hundred percent (100%) of the premium cost for deputies who retired at the age of 50 after working 25 years and ninety percent (90%) of the premium cost for deputies who retired at the age of 50 after working 25 years after working 20-24 years. These consolidated matters arose after Defendant amended that practice in April 2017. After April 2017, Defendant raised the eligible age to receive retiree healthcare benefits from 50 to 60 and reduced the premium cost to be paid by the Defendant to fifty percent (50%) for deputies who retired after 15-25 years.

Pending before this Court are motions for summary judgment in *Poff v. Wayne County Commission,* Civil Action No. 19-C-31 and *Maynard v. Wayne County Commission,* Civil Action No. 19-C-56. Defendant argues, among other things, that health insurance benefits are not "vested benefits" because they are funded on a year-to-year basis, from a budget that is likewise funded annually to cover expenses that occur over the course of a

single fiscal year. Defendant's consultant advised as to the increasing cost of retiree health insurance in the future, and Defendant realized that it was no longer able to afford to pay for this benefit. Defendant further asserts that retiree health insurance benefits cannot "vest" for Plaintiffs because they have not contributed anything into a plan funding such benefits.

Contrarily, the Plaintiffs assert that they worked for several years and they detrimentally relied on the Defendant's written policy and forewent higher paying job opportunities and pay raises so that they could retire at age 50 after twenty (20) years of service and receive ninety percent (90%) of their healthcare insurance premiums paid by the Defendant. For instance, Plaintiff Sheria Maynard retired in August 2021 at age 55 with 19 years of service.

Plaintiffs in *Williamson, et al. v. Wayne County Commission,* Civil Action No. 19-C-57, intervened in *Maynard* at the summary judgment stage and filed response and surreply memoranda. The *Poff, Maynard, Williamson, Wellman,* and *Triplett* Plaintiffs claim that the 2011 written policy and practice gave them a vested right to unchanged retiree health insurance benefits and that they are entitled to retire at age 50 and receive Defendant-paid retiree healthcare insurance premiums. Plaintiffs further argue that they detrimentally relied on the Defendant's written policy.

Plaintiffs assert that they have a vested right to these benefits because they accepted "an artificially low wage" and forewent pay raises and other deputy job

opportunities in other jurisdictions that paid more "due to the benefit of health care benefits starting at the retirement age of fifty years old."

After considering the written pleadings and oral arguments, the Court finds that these issues present a matter of first impression in West Virginia and that there is no clear controlling West Virginia precedent to guide its decision. Accordingly, the Court is certifying these questions of law to the Supreme Court of Appeals of West Virginia. This Court acknowledges that the Supreme Court of Appeals of West Virginia may reformulate all or any part of these questions.

c. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This action arises out of a breach of contract wherein the Plaintiffs detrimentally relied upon the Defendant's written and verbal policy to pay ninety percent (90%) of their health insurance premiums upon retirement at age 50 if they worked for twenty (20) years as deputy sheriffs. After the Plaintiffs Sheria Maynard, Stafford Glen Poff and Chester Maynard worked almost two decades, the Defendant, unilaterally and without any compensation, changed the policy whereby the Plaintiffs would not receive the same benefits and would have to work longer to get even half of their retiree health insurance premiums paid.

The Defendant has been unjustly enriched by their actions and have failed to pay the deferred compensation as promised both in writing and verbally. Plaintiff's claims of negligence, detrimental reliance, unjust enrichment, vested rights, breach of contract, false

and misleading statements, and quantum meruit and are based on the Defendant's promise to pay set forth in the written policy. The Defendant Commission cannot hide behind the cloak of any immunity since they knew they violated the statute and failed to perform their promises.

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT

Petitioners respectfully submit that no oral argument pursuant to Rule 18 (a) (4), W. Va. R. App. P., is necessary.

ARGUMENT

1. THE PLAINTIFFS DETRIMENTALLY RELIED UPON THE DEFENDANT'S WRITTEN PROMISE AND VERBAL PROMISE TO PAY RETIREES HEALTH INSURANCE BENEFITS AFTER 20 YEARS OF SERVICE AT AGE 50

The Plaintiff, Sheria Maynard, was employed by the Wayne County Commission as a Deputy Sherriff on or about August 26, 1998. At the time of Plaintiff's hiring, the Wayne County Commission's written retiree health benefit plan provided that they would pay ninety percent (90%) of the retiree's health insurance premiums at age 50 after 20 to 24 years of service. At the time of her hiring or immediately thereafter, the Plaintiff obtained the defendant's policy providing her retirement health benefits that included the payment of ninety percent (90%) of her health insurance premium upon retirement after 20 to 24 years of service. The Plaintiff testified that the Wayne County Commission established this policy by conducting a formal meeting, voting on the policy and reducing the promise to writing. The Plaintiff received a written copy of this policy throughout her tenure as an

employee of the Wayne County Commission. The following sworn testimony was given by

Sheria Maynard in this case:

- Q. And for employees who work from 20 to 24 years of service, they would get 90 percent of that premium paid by the Wayne County Commission; is that correct?
- A. Yes.
- Q. All right. And what type of premium are we talking about? Are we talking about health insurance premium?
- A. Yes, health insurance.
- Q. All right. And it's my understanding that you got a copy of the written policy a year or so after you began your employment as a deputy of the Wayne County Commission; is that correct?
- A. Yes.
- Q. And did that policy, the copy that you got – when did you start work again as a deputy for the Wayne County Commission?
- A. August of '98.
- Q. And after you got this policy, did you read that policy, and did you rely upon that policy –
- A. Yes.
- Q. – In staying at work with the Wayne County Commission?
- A. Yes.
- Q. Okay. And did you also, ma'am, keep a copy of this policy with you that had been established by the Wayne County Commission?
- A. Yes.

Q. Did you consider that a contract that they had established with you as an employee and a deputy with the sheriff's department of Wayne County?

A. Yes. (JA-Vol. 5, p.556)

The Plaintiff, Stafford Glen Poff, was initially hired at the Wayne County Sheriff's Department on January 13, 2002. Mr. Poff has a Bachelor's Degree from Marshall University. According to his sworn deposition testimony, he was gainfully employed in a private sector job at Columbia Paint where he worked as a Manager over the Huntington and Charleston stores. He earned over Forty Thousand Dollars (\$40,000.00) a year with annual bonuses and a 401K retirement plan.

The only reason Mr. Poff left his employment at Columbia Paint was due to the promises of the Wayne County Commission and the Wayne County Sheriff regarding their health insurance package and the ability to retire at age 50.

- **Q.** Is there a reason you decided to leave Columbia?
- A. I wanted to be able to retire at age 50. I really saw the benefit of a government retirement. It paled in comparison -- private sector paled in comparison to government retirements, the benefit package.
- Q. So how old are you now, Mr. Poff?
- A. l'm 52.
- Q. And what's your date of birth?

A. July 5th, 1968. (JA Vol. 11, p.1436)

The Plaintiff Chester Maynard became employed as a Deputy Sheriff on November 8,

1999. He also relied on the Defendant's retiree health insurance plan:

Chet Maynard, a Deputy with the Wayne County Sheriff's Department testified that he was promised that his health care would be covered upon the completion of twenty-five years of service. Mr. Maynard testified that Stafford Poff was in charge of the Deputy Sheriff's Association when the issue of low salary was raised with the County Commission. Mr. Maynard testified that he had attended meetings where Mr. Poff raised the issue of low salaries in the 2010 time frame. Mr. Maynard testified that the acting commissioners reminded the Deputies of the retirement health insurance benefit and retiring at the age of 50 during these negotiations for higher pay.

(JA-Vol. 7, p.920)

Due to his inability to retire at age 50, Plaintiff Chester Maynard will work until November, 2024 at age 60 to receive his promised retiree health benefit.

The Wayne County Commission promised in writing via the "Wayne County Commission Retiree Health" and verbally to the Plaintiffs (Sheria Maynard for 19 years, Chester Maynard for 18 years and Stafford Glen Poff for 15 years) that if they remained employed as Wayne County Deputy Sheriffs for twenty (20) years and retired at age Fifty (50) the Commission would pay ninety percent (90%) of their health insurance premiums. Their policy states as follows:

Wayne County Commission Retiree Health

<u>Eligibility</u>: Member must be actively employed and enrolled in the Wayne County Commission group health coverage.

<u>Service years</u>: The total number of years the employee has paid into the PERS. Wayne County Commission will count any entity service years in which you paid into the Public Employee Retirement System.

....

Class II: Sworn Officers/ Deputy Sheriffs

Normal retirement age:

Age 60 with 5 years of service under PERS (excluding military service). Age 50, if age plus years of service equals or exceeds 70 (exceeding military service).

Early retirement (reduced pension): age 50 with 10 years of service.

Benefit duration: Lifetime

...,

<u>Retiree coverage:</u>

....

Portion of the premium that Wayne County Commission will pay: Depends upon the years of service accumulated under the Public Employees Retirement System.

5-9 years service = 25%10-14 years service = 50%15-19 years service = 75%20-24 years service = 90%25+ years service = 100%

(JA-Vol. 7, p. 961)

Then, in July, 2011, the Defendant modified the health retirement benefit policy as to individual hires after July 1, 2011: the modification did not alter or modify the Plaintiffs retiree health benefits:

Wayne County Commission Retiree Health

<u>Eligibility</u>: Member must be actively employed and enrolled in the Wayne County Commission group health coverage.

<u>Service years</u>: The total number of years the employee has paid into the PERS. Wayne County Commission will count any entity service years in which you paid into the Public Employee Retirement System.

....

<u>Class II</u>: Sworn Officers/ Deputy Sheriffs

Normal retirement age

Age 60 with 5 years of service under PERS (excluding military service). Age 50, if age plus years of service equals or exceeds 70 (exceeding military service).

Early retirement (reduced pension): age 50 with 10 years of service.

Benefit duration: Lifetime

. . . .

<u>Retiree coverage:</u>

....

Portion of the premium that Wayne County Commission will pay depends upon the years of service accumulated under the Public Employees Retirement System:

5-9 years service = 25%10-14 years service = 50%15-19 years service = 75%20-24 years service = 90%25+ years service = 100%

Employees hired after July 1, 2011:

Not eligible for retiree health insurance.

Wayne County Commission will put \$1,000 per year into a health account to be used at retirement. At retirement, money can be used for any qualified medical, dental, or vision expense, including premiums. The Internal Revenue Service denies qualified medical care expenses within IRS Section 213(d).

(JA-Vol. 4, p. 408)

On the eve of fulfilling their end of the bargain which was to remain employed for 20

to 24 years to receive the benefit, the Defendant modified their retirement health insurance

policy.

Wayne County Commission Retiree Health Program

The Wayne County Commission has no contractual obligation to offer or provide retiree health benefits. The Wayne Commission reserves the right to make changes or completely cancel the retiree health program at any time.

Following is the complete description of the amended Retiree Health Program. No previous description or wording is to be considered.

Eligibility:

Only full-time employees hired prior to July 1, 2011 are eligible. No benefits of any kind will be offered for employees hired after July 1, 2011.

....

Employee must be age 60 or older to receive retiree health benefits.

Service years:

The total number of years the employee has paid into the Public Employee Retirement System. The Wayne County Commission will count any entity service years in which you paid into the PERS.

....

What the Wayne County Commission will pay:

Years of Service	Wayne County Commission pays
15-25 years	50%
25+ years	100%

(JA-Vol. 4, p.415)

The written policy was detrimentally relied upon by the Plaintiffs Sheria Maynard,

Stafford Glen Poff and Chester Maynard for almost two (2) decades as they remained employed as Deputy Sheriffs.

- q. So when Sheriff Pennington discussed salary and benefits with you, did he promise to you that you would have health insurance at age 50 if you retired?
- a. He agreed to it. That was the benefit package that was presented to me.
 (JA-Vol. 11 p.1449) (Deputy Poff's Testimony)

'Detrimentally Alter' means the governing body cannot reduce existing benefits like

medical coverage without just compensation. Booth v. Sims, 193 W.Va. 323, 456 S.E.2d 167

(1995)

Unfortunately, the state troopers, secretaries, school service highway personnel. teachers. workers, maintenance employees, assistant prosecuting attorney and other ordinary state and local workers are not sophisticated politicians who expect their government to lie to them. When, therefore, today's legislature and today's governor make those workers promises, those workers believe the promises and organize their lives in the expectation that their government and their employer will treat them honorably. In these circumstances, the rules cannot be changed after employee's have substantially relied to their detriment. The cynosure, them of an employee's W. Va. Const. art, III, § 4 contract right to a pension is not the employee's or even the government's contribution to the fund; rather, it is the government's promise to pay. (Booth at 184) (emphasis supplied).

A governmental body can change their employee benefits, but any alterations must

have a prospective effect, and cannot adversely affect the contractual rights of existing employees who have relied upon the agreement to their detriment *Adams v. Ireland*, 207

W.Va. 197, 528 S.E.2d 197 (1999).

Booth v. Sims, 193 W.Va. 323, 456 S.E.2d 167 (1995) held that the determinative

factor is "whether the employee may be said to have substantially relied to their detriment" on

the statute. Adams, p. 203

Changes may be made in pension systems with regards to new employees who have not yet joined the system and who have *not* yet relied to their detriment on government promises of future benefits. Furthermore, changes can be made with regard to employees with so few years of service that they cannot be said to have relied to their detriment. Line drawing in this latter regard must be made on a case-by-case basis, **but after ten years of state service detrimental reliance is presumed.**

Syl. pt. 15, Booth v. Sims, supra

Pursuant to the Booth decision, the Plaintiffs have exceeded the requisite number of years of

service to presume detrimental reliance (Sheria Maynard - 19 years, Chester Maynard - 18

years and Stafford Glen Poff – 15 years).

In Hatfield v. Health Management Associates of West Virginia, 223 W.Va. 259, 672

S.E.2d 395 (2008), the Court discussed establishing a detrimental reliance claim in an

employment setting. To establish detrimental reliance in the employment context, this Court

held the following:

Equitable estoppel cannot arise merely because of action taken by one on a misleading statement made by another. In addition thereto, it must appear that the one who made the statement intended or reasonably should have expected that the statement would be acted upon by the one claiming the benefit of estoppel, and that he, without fault himself, did act upon it to his prejudice.

Syllabus Point 4, *Barnett v. Wolfolk*, 149 W.Va. 246, 140 S.E.2d 466 (1965)

The Plaintiff *Hatfield* had received a written offer of employment and had acknowledged in writing that she was considered an at will employee. She was terminated after four (4) days of employment and filed an action against the employer that included detrimental reliance. The *Hatfield* decision stated that there was no clear and convincing evidence that the employer made an express promise that "would be relied and/or acted upon by an employee, and...that the appellant through no fault of her own, reasonably relied upon the promise." *Hatfield*, 223 W.Va. 259, 266, 672 S.E.2d 395, 402 (2008).

In this matter, the clear and convincing evidence is as follows:

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