IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

No. 24-105

SCA EFiled: May 29 2024

12:19PM EDT

Transaction ID 73254972

Stafford Glenn Poff, Sheria Maynard, Travis Williamson, Chris Booton, Sean Johnson, Chester Maynard, James Ward, Paul Baker, Aaron Farley, Wade R. Wellman, and

Nathan Triplett,

Plaintiffs Below, Petitioners,

VS.

Wayne County Commission,

Defendant Below, Respondent.

Lower Court: Circuit Court of Wayne County West Virginia Case Nos. 19-C-31, 19-C-56, 19-C-57, 19-C-60, and 19-C-61

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

/s/ Sandra Henson Kinney

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Petitioners claim that they have a vested right to the lifetime payment of retiree health insurance premiums at the expense of the Commission. They premise this claim on the Commission's 2011 written policy providing that Wayne County deputy sheriffs could retire at age 50, after working 20 to 24 years, and receive health insurance with 90% of the premium cost paid by the Commission. Relying on *Booth v. Sims*, 193 W. Va. 323 (1994), Petitioners erroneously characterize subsidized retiree health insurance premiums as "deferred compensation" and argue that health insurance premiums must be treated the same as public employee pensions.

But Petitioners ignore key differences between pensions and health insurance benefits, e.g., money is expected to be put away to fund pension systems and "all employees who contribute to a state pension fund and who have substantially relied to their detriment on specific contribution and benefits schedules have immediate legitimate expectations that rise to the level of constitutionally protected contract property rights." See Booth, supra, at Syl. Pts. 1, 18 (emphasis in the original). In contrast, the Commission is not required to provide health insurance benefits for regular employee or retirees, and by law, retirees may continue to participate in a commission's group health insurance program only if they pay "the entire premium for the coverage involved." See W. Va. Code § 7-5-20 (emphasis added). In the absence of a contract, such as a collective bargaining agreement, obligating the Commission to pay Petitioners' retiree health insurance premiums, paid premiums are not earned and vested benefits. The former Commission policies that called for the payment of retiree health insurance premiums were merely discretionary personnel policies and with notice, could be modified for any reason so long as the Commission provided notice to Petitioners.

Further, as noted above, in W. Va. Code § 7-5-20, the Legislature prohibited the Commission from offering a program that subsidizes any portion of its retirees' health insurance premiums: "When a participating officer or employee shall retire from his office or employment, he may, if he so elects and the insurance carrier or carriers agree, remain a member of the group plan *by paying the entire premium for coverage involved*. *Id*. (Emphasis added). And, under W. Va. Code § 11-8-26, it is unlawful for the Commission to commit to expenditures "in excess of the funds available for current expenditures." Assuming, *arguendo*, that the Commission and Petitioners contracted for the payment of retiree health insurance premiums, any such contracts violated both W. Va. Code §§ 7-5-20 and 11-8-26 and were void as a matter of law.

The circuit court correctly answered the first Certified Question, determining that Petitioners have no vested right to the payment of retiree health insurance premiums based on the Commission's former written policy. But under West Virginia law, any alleged contracts for the payment of Petitioners' retiree health insurance premiums were void as a matter of law. It necessarily follows that where no breach of contract claim could possibly lie, quasi contractual theories of relief do not lie. As such, this Court should hold that the circuit court erred in answering the second Certified Question in the affirmative and likewise hold that Petitioners may not pursue their claims for breach of contract, detrimental reliance, false and misleading statements, unjust enrichment, and quantum meruit against the Commission.

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

The Commission requests an oral argument under Rule 20, W. Va. R.A.P. because this case involves questions of first impression under West Virginia common law and statutory law, and, therefore, oral argument would significantly aid the decisional process for this Court.

ARGUMENT

I. The Circuit Court correctly answered the first Certified Question in the negative; the Wayne County Commission's former written policy and practice of subsidizing retiree health insurance premiums did not create a vested right to or a property interest in retiree health insurance benefits for Petitioners.

As the Order Granting Joint Motion to Certify sets out, the Commission created a written policy in 2011 providing that deputy sheriffs could retire at age 50 and receive health insurance, with 90% of the health insurance premium cost paid by the Commission after they worked for the Commission for 20 to 24 years and 100% of the health insurance premium cost for deputies who retired at the age of 50 after working 25 years. JA-000189. The Commission's March 20, 2017, meeting minutes reflect that the Commission voted to make changes to the county's health insurance coverage for active employees and for retirees:

Motion by Commissioner Pennington seconded by Commissioner Adkins that effective May 1, 2017 the Retirement Benefits' healthcare coverage will change. These changes include: 1). Retirement age with benefits for employees raised to age 60; 2). Commission will pay 100% of health benefits for retirees and 50% of benefits for spouses; and 3). Commission will only provide health benefits until the age of 65 at which time retirees must switch to Medicare. The Commission will continue to pay Supplement Plan F. Unanimous vote.

Motion by Commissioner Pennington seconded by Commissioner Adkins to change the health insurance plan coverage for employees. These changes include: 1). Pay 100% of coverage for individual employees and require employees with a family plan to pay \$200.00 per month; 2). Choose option 4, as presented by Bob Crabtree, Benefit Design Group, which will raise the current individual/family deductible to \$1,500.00/\$3,000.00 and individual/family coinsurance limits to \$3,000.00/\$6,000.00; and 3). Adopt changes in the prescription drug coverage which includes a new category to address specialty dugs as well as make provisions for mail order drugs. Unanimous vote.

JA-000410-411. These changes included the issue at the heart of Petitioners' case – raising the age at which the Commission would pay any portion of retiree health insurance premiums from age 50 to 60. On April 10, 2017, the Commission included with employee paystubs a memorandum advising all county employees of the policy changes. JA-000391, ¶ 11; JA-000413-414. The new retiree health insurance premium policy went into effect on May 1, 2017. JA-000410-411.

Petitioners erroneously equate the payment of retiree health insurance premiums to a public employee's right to retirement benefits. But this case involves the Commission's previous policy and practice to pay retiree health insurance premiums, not a state law and not pension benefits, and this Court has never held that public employees can acquire a Constitutional contract right or property interest in health insurance benefits or health insurance premiums. The applicable

authorities are Collins v. City of Bridgeport, 206 W. Va. 467 (1999) and Boggess v. City of Charleston, 234 W. Va. 366 (2014).

Collins, supra, stands for the proposition that a public employer may modify or revoke long-held policies that created express or implied contract rights, provided it notifies its employees of the change. *Id.* at Syl. Pt. 2. In *Collins*, Bridgeport police officers challenged the city's decision to alter its long-held policy of including vacation pay, compensation time, and sick pay in the calculation of overtime. This practice had been ongoing for over 20 years, and due to budget constraints, the city decided to delete the hours for these items from any overtime calculation. The officers argued that they had a contract right to continued payment of the overtime as it had been previously calculated. The Court flatly rejected the officers' theories reasoning:

The appellants challenge the modification in the policy regarding the calculation of overtime pay on three grounds. First, the appellants assert that an employment contract by a government employer is protected by the contract clause of article III, section 4 of the West Virginia Constitution, so that a government employer cannot alter employees' contractual rights without providing just compensation to the employees. . . . [T]he contract clause prohibits the passage of a statute or law which impairs the obligation of an existing contract. . . . We simply do not believe a government employer's unilateral modification of a discretionary personnel policy constitutes the impairment of a contract under article III, section 4 of our Constitution.

Second, the appellants assert that Bridgeport's past practice of the calculation of overtime pay and the police officers' reliance on this practice create a contract between the city and its police officers that cannot be unilaterally modified by Bridgeport without the payment of just compensation to the police officers. . . . We have . . . said, however, that, an employer may modify or revoke prior personnel manuals or policies that have created express or implied contract rights as to job security and establish in a subsequent personnel manual or policy that the employment is one at-will. When such a change is made, the employer must give reasonable notice of the change to the employees.

. . .

Bridgeport, like a private employer, is free to promulgate a policy and subsequently modify that policy as long as employees are given reasonable notice of the modification.

Third, the appellants contend that the long-held past practice at issue is a property right which may not be taken by a government employer without due process.

. . .

[W]e are aware of no statute or local law which grants to Bridgeport police officers a property interest in having time compensated but not actually worked included in the calculation of overtime pay. Rather, this method of calculating overtime pay was a personnel policy of Bridgeport which was practiced over a period of time at the City's discretion. . . . We find, therefore, that Bridgeport's modification of its long-held policy regarding the calculation of overtime pay of municipal police officers was permissible.

Id. at 475-77 (emphasis added) (internal citations and footnotes omitted).

Boggess, supra, expanded upon Collins to hold:

In the absence of a contractual obligation providing otherwise, a public employer is permitted to unilaterally modify a longstanding policy affecting the rights of employees where notice is provided to such employees and where the modification of policy does not retroactively impair previously earned and vested rights, such as pension benefits.

Id. at Syl. Pt. 4. Analyzing the first Certified Question under *Collins* and *Boggess*, it is clear that the Commission was free to modify its policy, and Petitioners have no vested rights to retiree health insurance benefits or premiums based upon the Commission's former policy.

A. The Commission's former policy regarding the payment of retiree health insurance premiums is unquestionably a discretionary policy.

The Commission's authority to provide health insurance benefits for its employees is governed by statute. W. Va. Code § 7-5-20 provides:

Every county through its county court [county commission] shall have **plenary power** and authority to negotiate for, secure and adopt for the officers and **regular employees** thereof . . . a policy or policies of group insurance written by a carrier or carriers chartered under the laws of any state and duly licensed to do business in this

State and covering life; health; hospital care; surgical or medical diagnosis, care and treatment; drugs and medicines; remedial care; other medical supplies and services; or any other combination of these; and any other policy or policies of group insurance which in the discretion of the county court bear a reasonable relationship to the foregoing coverages. . . .

Id. (Emphasis added.) The statue permits, but does not require, county commissions to pay all or any portion of health insurance premiums for its regular employees:

The county court [county commission] is hereby authorized and empowered to pay the entire premium cost, or any portion thereof of said group policy or policies. . . .

As for retirees, W. Va. Code § 7-5-20 states:

When a participating officer or employee shall retire from his office or employment, he may, if he so elects and the insurance carrier or carriers agree, remain a member of the group plan by paying the entire premium for coverage involved.

Id. (Emphasis added.) As the Commission has plenary power to create health insurance programs under W. Va. Code § 7-5-20, the Commission likewise has the authority to change the terms of those programs as it sees fit. *Id.* The Commission is not required to offer group insurance programs at all, and it offers health insurance benefits to its employees at its sole discretion. *Id.*

Petitioners argue that the Commission was not permitted to change the policy as applied to them because:

- The policy was a unilateral contract that Petitioners' continued service was the consideration;
- the payment of retiree health insurance premiums is protected by the contract clause of article III, section 4 of the West Virginia Constitution; and
- they have a property interest/legitimate claim of entitlement in the Commission's paying their retiree health insurance premiums.

Brief of Petitioners, pp. 20-22, 24. The Commission addresses these arguments in turn.

B. No contractual obligation requires the Commission to subsidize retiree health insurance premiums.

Petitioners here claim that a contractual obligation exists between themselves and the Commission which requires the Commission pay 90% of Petitioners' health insurance premiums after they work 20 to 24 years and reach the age of 50 years.³ Petitioners have never alleged that they have written contracts with the Commission, and there is no union or collective bargaining agreement. Instead, Petitioners claim that a binding unilateral contract for the payment retiree health insurance premiums was created by sheer fact of their working for the Commission. Brief of Petitioners, pp. 20-22. They cite to *Citynet*, *LLC v. Toney*, 235 W. Va. 79, 84 (2015) for this proposition. Petitioners are wrong, and *Citynet* is inapposite.

Citynet, supra, concerned the employer's promise to pay a bonus to an employee under the terms of a written employee incentive plan with the stated purpose of "creat[ing] incentives which are designed to motivate Participants . . . and to enable the Company to attract and retain experienced individuals who . . . make important contributions to the Company's success." Id. at 82. Citynet advised Mr. Toney in writing that he was 100% vested in the incentive plan and that his balance in the Plan was \$42,933.73. Id. In the written plan, Citynet "expressly stated that '[w]hen an employee leaves Citynet, the employee is entitled to 'cash out' his or her entire vested balance[.]" Id. Citynet later advised Mr. Toney that his vested balance was \$87,000.48. When Mr. Toney resigned, Citynet denied him 80% of his vested balance. Id. Mr. Toney sued Citynet,

³ Petitioners assert that in proceedings below, the Commission "agreed" that Petitioner Sheria Maynard worked for the Commission under an implied contract of employment. Brief of Petitioner, p. 23. The Commission addressed the notion of an implied contract of employment only in the context of arguing the applicable statute of limitations of Petitioners' now-settled and dismissed claims under the salary increment statute, W. Va. Code § 7-14-17c. *See* JA-000516-517. (Petitioners' cite is incorrect.) The Commission does not now agree, nor has it ever agreed, that it had an express or implied contractual obligation to pay Petitioners' future retiree health insurance premiums.

and the case made its way to this Court after the circuit court granted Mr. Toney's motion for partial summary judgment and concluded that Mr. Toney was entitled to payment of his entire vested balance.

This Court recognized the incentive plan as a unilateral contract observing that "Citynet benefitted by attracting and retaining employees who desired to participate in the Plan, which is Citynet's expressed purpose for establishing the plan." *Id.* at 86. As Petitioners pointed out, this Court was influenced by a *Corbin on Contracts*' explanation of unilateral contracts:

The . . . unilateral contracts analysis is applicable to the employer's promise to pay a bonus . . . to an employe in case the latter continues to serve for a stated period. . . . There is no mutuality of obligation, but there is consideration in the form of services rendered. The employee's one consideration, rendition of services, supports all of the employer's promises, to pay . . . the bonus.

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